
 
Economic Development Commission 

Regular Meeting 
Monday, February 6, 2012 

Windham Town Hall 
Meeting Minutes 

7:30 PM 
 

 
Commission Members present: Bill Hettinger, Bob Horrocks, Victor 

Funderburk, and John McCommas 
 

Commission Members absent: Eric Crowley, Bill Anderson(excused) 
 

Town Staff:  James Finger, Town Planner, Sharon Vernon, recording 
secretary 

 

Call to order: Bill Hettinger called the meeting to order at 7:35 pm. 
The chair commented that he wanted to welcome John McCommas to 

the commission, and he added that John was appointed as an 
alternate to the EDC about two weeks ago. 

 
Citizens & Delegations: 

 
Rep. Susan Johnson stated that she came to the meeting tonight 

because she had noticed that the Jobs Bill was on the EDC agenda and 
that she had heard a number of people discussing this in terms of 

façade improvement and she wanted to go on record saying that the 
Jobs Bill is really a Jobs Bill, this bill will give money if we have a 

vision. Rep. Johnson added she would stay at the meeting until the 
Jobs Bill was discussed and act as an advisory if that was acceptable. 

The chair agreed that would be fantastic and stated that he would try 

to move that agenda item to the top so she wouldn’t have to stay for 
the whole meeting. Dawn N. Niles was also present to speak on this 

issue. 
 

James Finger commented that Roberta Dwyer from Northeast Alliance 
was also in the audience and had a lot to offer to the Commission. 

 
 

 



Review/Approval of Minutes:  

 
The chair asked if there was a motion to accept the minutes of the 

January 9th meeting. James commented that on top of page 4 in the 
minutes the Chair stated that he assumed that the CRS (Community 

Revitalization Strategy) would be the previously approved plan needed 
and that maybe he should clarify that. Chairman Hettinger stated that 

they would be discussing that issue at tonight’s meeting. James added 
that he also deleted some of his comments in the minutes that he felt 

didn’t contribute to the subject, and also a name correction. 
 

Bob Horrocks made a motion to accept the meeting minutes of January 
9, 2011 with corrections. Victor Funderburk seconded the motion.  

Three members were in favor with one abstention, motion carried. 
(Original minutes of the last meeting were revised with the noted 

corrections.) 
 

Chairman Hettinger suggested that the EDC move the agenda item- 
Chair report- State Legislature enacted a Bill- Main Street 

Reinvestment Fund up one item and move the agenda item-Old 

Business-Discussion & possible action on tax abatement & deferral 
guidelines down one item. The commission agreed. 

 
Chairman’s Report- State Legislature enacted a bill –Main 

Street Reinvestment: 
 

Chairman Hettinger commented that he would like to start off with his 
summary & understanding of the Jobs Bill. The Chair stated that the 

Bill was 169 pages long and he confessed that he did not read the 
whole document.  

 
Rep. Susan Johnson interjected by saying that she has read the entire 

document. She said that you need to look at it in terms of how it might 
apply to your community and what you have for an actual application 

that you might want to plan an appeal for board money. Rep. Johnson 

also stated that they were able to make sure that they would have 
access to the money with a proper plan by changing some of the 

language that was originally proposed, because as it was originally 
written the town would have lost the money. The town wouldn’t have 

been eligible if it had been all STEAP grants because as you know, our 
town is not a STEAP town, a STEAP town does not have downtowns 

and are not distressed municipalities, and we are both of those. We 
are also not an entitlement town because we don’t have 50,000 

people. These are the standards for most of the towns, they are either 



STEAP towns or entitlement towns and in our circumstance we are a 

town that has to go through OPM for the money. Rep. Johnson added 
that it would be a group effort with assistance from herself and 

Senator Williams’ office. 
 

Chair Hettinger stated that he had read the pertinent parts on the Main 
Street Investment Fund and that he was asked to speak on this at the 

next town council meeting. The chair stated that he also attended a 
presentation on this from DECD at Three Rivers College back in 

December. The chair added that they spoke on a Job Expansion tax 
credit and a Small Business Express Lending Program, both of these 

the town could market, but they would have to go to a DECD agency 
to get proper approval to get these. 

 
Chairman Hettinger stated that the second piece was that there was a 

Main Street Investment Fund that needed a previously approved plan 

of community development. 
 

Dawn Niles commented that fund was for smaller venues, 25,000 or 
less(population) and it talked about facades, our Town has been trying 

to get money for façade improvement unsuccessfully for years. Rep. 
Susan Johnson commented that there is more than one bill for 

facades, there is the Jobs Bill and also a bill introduced years back by 
Rep. Walter Pawelkiewicz. She added that it doesn’t really matter 

which bill we use although one specifies a certain amount of money, 
but in order to access the money you will still need a proposal that will 

actually generate jobs. Rep. Johnson stated (for example) that Putnam 
received money last session, their theme is antiques. This helps 

generate money. We also have the arts & entertainment district and 
we have small banks and restaurants that help some but our 

entertainment portion does not generate much revenue. We need to 

generate jobs that will provide enough income for people to make a 
living. Rep. Johnson stated that we need to take a look at what we 

have here in town, we have lots of resources such as QVCC, but it is 
state funded, the jobs are provided by the state. So we need to take a 

look at what we can do that will dovetail nicely with the theater, 
Swiftwaters, educational programs like the Magnet School, QVCC, nice 

solid open buildings ready to be sold, and the two rail lines we have 
here. Rep. Johnson suggested that we look at the rail lines, our freight 

rails could be an opportunity for us to add businesses that are 
lucrative for the people who are employed by them and she said that 

we do run into some difficulty because our plan of development does 
not include extending a sewer line from the area where we might be 

able to have a good industrial park in South Windham. Our plan of 



development must be changed to include an industrial park and sewer 

access. Rep. Johnson added that if someone approached the town to 
use that area as an industrial park we may be able to work with 

Senator Williams to get the money to extend the sewer authority to 
South Windham. Rep. Johnson also stated that they are working with 

the airport to expand it to maximize its use. Rep. Johnson concluded 
that these are the things that we need to look at and work with for 

economic development.  
 

Chair Hettinger stated that we have had several meetings & 
discussions on the benefits of having an industrial park, this hasn’t 

gone anywhere because we need some type of funding for the project 
to happen.  So from what I am hearing from Rep. Johnson’s 

presentation is that it may be possible to get some money from the 
jobs Bill for this project as long as we have a plan for jobs. The chair 

added that the EDC needs to do a jobs census on Commerce Drive 

within the next couple of weeks. (the properties there are similar in 
size in both of those areas) 

 
Dawn Niles commented that is exactly what you need to be doing. 

When you put in your application you are promoting the town; fixing 
the things that need to be fixed but doing it with the understanding 

that you are creating jobs and that is why you have to look at the 
whole package. 

 
Rep. Johnson stated that we have assets here: The Theater Guild, 

Swiftwaters, QVCC, ECSU, the two rail lines, the airport, successful 
existing businesses, we need to pull all of these assets together with a 

theme to generate jobs. 
 

Ms. Niles added that we already have the theme, Gordon McDonald 

has already done a good amount of the work for free on what the Main 
Street buildings could look like, now we need to see what types of 

businesses should go in them, and with the zoning changes this will 
make it much easier. Ms. Niles stated that the jobs bill is saying that if 

you help us fix the facades these are the types of businesses that we 
are going after and these are the type of jobs that we want to create 

for the town. Rep. Johnson said even more so, these are the people 
that we have contacted and this is what they plan to do with us and 

this is what we need for funds. Ms. Niles suggested on speaking to the 
owners of 560 Main Street to see who they have already spoken to. 

 
Victor Funderburk stated that what he is hearing is that the EDC needs 

to come up with a comprehensive plan on creating an industrial park, 



getting housing downtown, people on the street, and to decide on 

what types of businesses we want and what we envision the downtown 
to be. Rep. Johnson stated that is correct, she added that we may be 

able to get façade improvement for businesses like 560 Main Street, 
the owners of the building have already spoke to interested 

businesses. 
 

Bob Horrocks commented that the growth for downtown is going to be 
in retail. We have the Nassif’s building and the Murray building most 

likely going to be retail and there could be other buildings that will 
have retail downstairs and residential upstairs. So if we focus on Main 

Street it would bring more businesses and therefore more jobs. Bob 
added that he didn’t understand why the sewer was related to façade 

improvement.  
 

Tom DeVivo replied that he had a gentleman come to our town to look 

at some buildings and the first thing he asked was “where’s your 
industrial park?” Some discussion followed on how all of this ties in, 

the industrial park, sewer, façade improvement and creation of jobs. 
 

Mr. DeVivo also asked if Davis-Bacon Wage rules will apply. The chair 
replied that he doesn’t know because they have not received the 

guidelines from OPM. The chair added that we have a general sense of 
what this bill is but we don’t know the details, the application process 

and the guidelines so we need those before we can proceed. 
 

More discussion followed on bringing all the pieces together with 
creation of jobs most important. 

 
Rep. Johnson wanted to stress that this grant is competitive which 

means we will be competing with other municipalities and if we come 

up with a plan that doesn’t show that it’s going to generate jobs then 
it’s going to be very difficult to convince them to give us the funding. 

 
Victor Funderburk commented that if we wait for the guidelines then 

we are going to be behind other communities, we need to start writing 
the plan right now. We need to show community organization and 

share a vision & make those contacts. Some discussion followed. 
 

Chair Hettinger asked Rep. Johnson what time frame do  we have to 
complete this plan. Rep. Johnson replied there is a limited amount of 

money and she thinks that we should develop the plan as soon as we 
can. Rep. Johnson suggested working with who is here instead of 

going to a consultant. We have Providence & Worcester Railroad, New 



England Central, legislatures, and Matt Hart in Mansfield who is very 

interested in bringing rail here. She added when the rail line left our 
community started to deteriorate maybe with the rail back we may be 

able to get more businesses and economic growth. She also suggested 
bringing in the local universities, Sustainable Energy and our local 

businesses like Willimantic Waste Co. & Brand Rex, etc. 
 

Ms. Niles suggested looking at our town plan for guidance. The chair 
stated do we need to develop a new plan or simply take the pertinent 

parts from the plans that we already have. Roberta Dwyer commented 
that they don’t care where you get the info from as long as you have a 

comprehensive plan and we have so many plans we should take the 
best parts and put them all together. She added that the plan can 

always be amended after we get the guidelines from OPM if we need 
to. More discussion followed on rail lines. 

 

Bob Horrocks asked how much money the town could receive. Ms. 
Niles replied that the bill authorizes $5 mil a year for fiscal year 2012-

2013. The chair added that the façade money is up to $½ mil per 
town. 

 
James Finger commented that the summary states:  

“…although municipalities must generally use the grants only for 
improvements to municipal property, the bill allows them to use 

a portion of their grant for one-time reimbursements of up to 
$50,000 to any private owner of commercial property who 

makes eligible expenditures that directly support or enhance 
grant-funded projects. Maximum reimbursements are 50% for 

up to the first $50,000 of eligible private expenditure and 25% 
for additional expenditures exceeding $50,000 but not more than 

$150,000…” 

Mr. Finger also added that the bill talks about the money being 
available for Municipal Projects such as façade or awning 

improvements, sidewalks, street lighting, building renovation, 
landscaping of recreational areas & green space and bicycle paths.  

 
Some discussion followed on this and the progress on Technical 

Schools and the lack of business educational classes in the school 
system. 

 
Roberta Dwyer commented that in our document on the Main Street 

Investment Fund it states in the second paragraph that in order to be 
eligible a project must be part of a plan previously adopted by the 

municipalities governing body. Ms. Dwyer asked us to keep that in 



mind when we are ready. The chair replied that the council has already 

accepted the CRS which we had planned to use. Ms. Dwyer stated that 
they have accepted that plan but not the new plan that the EDC is 

going to develop. Roberta also stated that if anyone needs any 
information on the express loans to contact the Northeast  

Alliance office. 
 

Bob Horrocks stated that we should stick with revitalizing the 
downtown instead of promoting an industrial park. 

 
There was more discussion on the industrial park and needed 

commercial space as well as the plans that we already have and how 
we can blend them altogether.  

 
Another discussion was about the strings that could be attached to the 

façade program. 

 
Chairman Hettinger stated that we need to be prepared to put in an 

application ASAP when the guidelines are released and have a plan in 
place. The EDC members need to go through all the plans that we 

already have and pull out all of the common themes, look for the jobs 
elements in those themes, and then as previously suggested look for 

some outreach from the railroads and the colleges (the outreach to the 
colleges so far has been at the Town Mangers/Mayors level). So now 

we need a plan of action from this commission to go forward. Mr. 
Finger stated that we should have a public hearing and invite some 

public input and also look for partners. 
 

The chair stated that we need to have a list of 12 things, the grant 
may only ask for 3 then we can choose from our list what fits. 

 

Chair Hettinger suggested that our first step be that we read the entire 
Jobs Bill; he said to find it Google CT Jobs Bill, October 2011 and 

review the CRS. Next meeting we plan on having a joint meeting with 
PZC, on their zoning revisions and signage. Mr. Funderburk suggested 

that we connect by email in two weeks (2-20) with 12 bullet points on 
what we want to see in our vision. The chair added and to find the 

elements that will create jobs. 
 

 
Old Business-Discussion & possible action on tax abatement & 

deferral guidelines: 
 

Chairman Hettinger read his draft on tax abatement & deferral: 



 
One of the roles of the Windham EDC is to review the tax abatement and deferral 

requests submitted by property owners under the negotiated assessment regulations (state 

statutes section 12-65b/Town ordinances section 10-21 to 10-24) and entertainment 

district regulations, and to make recommendations to the Town Council based on its 

review of these requests. 

 

The EDC will evaluate the tax abatement and tax deferral requests based on their value 

and contribution to the community.  The proposed real property improvements will meet 

one of the following guidelines: 

 

1. The proposed real property improvements will result in the rehabilitation of 

blighted buildings, unsafe buildings, or condemned buildings. 

 

2. The proposed real property improvements will result in the rehabilitation of 

significant or contributing historical buildings.  

 

3. The proposed development results in the creation of additional public goods 

(such as road improvements, sidewalk and streetscape improvements, water or 

sewer system improvements) in excess of the value of the abatement or 

deferral. 

 

4. The property owner has provided an economic impact analysis, prepared by an 

independent third party, demonstrating economic value to the Town in excess of 

the value of the proposed abatement or deferral 

 

After some discussion it was decided to make some changes, the 

changes are as follows: first paragraph third line it should be changed 
to (state statutes 12-65) remove the b, and add Town ordinances 

section 10-21 to 10-24. Change all of the ‘shoulds’ to ‘will’. The second 
line should read: The proposed real property improvements will result 

in the rehabilitation of significant or contributing historical buildings. 
(James Finger explained the definition of significant, and contributing 

historical buildings - and non-contributing buildings to members.) 

 
There was some discussion on whether or not these guidelines could 

be used for the IHZ. (Incentive Housing District.) 
Chairman Hettinger stated that we may be able to use them with some 

revisions or create some specifically for the IHZ. Minor discussion 
followed. 

 
Victor Funderburk moved to adopt the Tax Abatement and Deferral 

guidelines with revisions made by the EDC. Bob Horrocks seconded the 
motion, all members present approved, motion carried. 

 



Chairman Hettinger reported that he has been invited to speak to the 

Town Council tomorrow (2-7-12) on the Main Street Investment Fund. 
He stated that his original plan was to tell them that we have no 

guidelines from OPM yet, but after tonight’s meeting he will tell them 
that we are working on a plan. 

 
Chairman Hettinger stated that there is an Art Grant called “Our Town” 

for $25,000 up to 150,000; the Town Manager wants to know if the 
EDC would be in favor of pursuing this art endowment grant. The catch 

is that its due on March 1st and they want it 10 days ahead of time (2-
20) and it has to be a public/private partnership which means we 

would have to partner with a non-profit. 
 

James Finger commented that he met with Diane Nadeau of the 
Chamber of Commerce and she stated that the Arts Collaborative is 

still trying to get a match for their money. Diane said she would look 

into that and get back to him. Mr. Finger also said that we may be able 
to get part of the match from ACCESS Agency. Minor discussion 

followed on having murals down around town. 
 

Victor Funderburk made a motion to move forward with the Art Grant 
“Our Town” if it’s at all possible. Bob Horrocks seconded the motion, all 

members present were in favor, motion carried. 
 

Citizens & Delegations: 
 

None 
 

Adjournment: 
 

Bill Hettinger adjourned the meeting at 10:00 pm. 

 
Minutes respectfully submitted by: Sharon Vernon 


